IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SIDNEY OLLIE GIBSON,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 72,082

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAMELA D. PRESNELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #0603708 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ILED SID J. WHITE APR 8 1938

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By _______

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Sidney Ollie Gibson, was the defendant in the Circuit Court of Columbia County, Florida, and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority and the appellee respectfully. Petitioner will be referred to as "Gibson" or "petitioner". Respondent will be referred to herein as "the state".

The record on appeal consists of four volumes. References to Volumes I, 11, and III of the Record on appeal will be designed by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcript of Gibson's August 27, 1986, sentencing hearing, will be made by the symbol "s" followed by the appropriate page number.

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner relies upon the facts as set forth in the First District's opinion filed February 10, **1988**, a copy **of** which is attached here to as Exhibit A. The First District affirmed petitioner's sentence with respect to the departure from the guidelines, but certified to this Court the following question of great public importance:

> Whether commission of new crimes within fourteen months of release from incarceration for prior offenses is a valid ground for departure from the guideline.

Notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on March 9, 1988. This brief is filed pursuant to the briefing schedule issued on March 14, 1988.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the facts of this case, the certified question should be answered in the negative. The facts of this case are readily distinguishable from the facts of <u>Williams v. State</u>, **484** So.2d 71 (Fla. 1st DCA **1986**), affirmed, **504** So.2d **392** (Fla. **1987**), wherein this Court held "timing of the offenses" to be a valid reason for departure.

If this Court finds this case to be indistinguishable from <u>Williams</u>, supra, petitioner respectfully requests this Court to recede from its holding in that case. This reason is based primarily upon factors already scored and computed in arriving at the presumptive guidelines sentence. Inasmuch as it is based upon factors not previously scored, approving timing of the offenses as a reason to depart will lead to arbitrariness and unwarranted disparity in sentencing because there are no parameters to guide the trial court.

-3-

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DEPARTING FROM THE GUIDELINES IN SENTENCING PETITIONER.

The First District certified to this Court the following question of great public importance:

Whether commission of new crimes within fourteen months of release from incarceration for prior offenses is a valid ground for departure from the guidelines.

<u>Gibson v. State</u>, **13** FLW **428** (1st DLA Feb. 10, **1988).** Under the facts of his case, petitioner contends that this question must be answered in the negative.

The first District affirmed petitioner's sentence based upon <u>Williams v. State</u>, **484** So.2d **71** (Fla. 1st DCA **1986**), <u>affirmed</u>, **504** So.2d 392 (Fla. **1987**). This case, however, is readily distinguishable from <u>Williams</u>, supra. In <u>Williams</u>, the defendant had established a <u>pattern</u> of committing new offenses within a short period of time of release from incarceration. From his initial commitment to H.R.S. as a juvenile in January, **1977**, to the offenses at issue on appeal, which were committed in October, **1984**, Williams had repeatedly committed new offenses soon (from six months to ten months) after his releases from incarceration. Under those facts, this Court held that timing of the offenses was a valid reason for departure.

-4-

In the case at bar, however, petitioner had only been incarcerated in prison once previously (S-17). Moreover, the instant offenses were committed 14 months after his release.1 Not only is this incident not indicative of a pattern, but the 14 month time lapse distinguishes this case from the six and ten month periods in Williams, supra. This time lapse also distinguishes this case from other cases in which the District Courts of Florida have held the timing of offenses to be a valid reason for departure, such as: Nixon v. State, 494 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (instant offense committed 3 1/2 months after release from prison); White v. State, 481 So.2d 993 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) (instant offense committed two days after release from prison); Swain v. State, 455 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (offense committed 7 months after release on parole); and Jean v. State, 455 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) (Defendant violated probation within one month of release from first conviction).

If this Court determines that petitioner's case falls within the scope of the above cited cases, petitioner respectfully requests this Court to recede from its holding in

¹The First District stated that the instant offenses were committed 14 months after petitioner's release from incarceration, however, at sentencing the trial court was under the impression that there had been a one and one-half years lapse of time.

<u>Williams</u>, supra, and hold timing of the offenses an invalid reason for departure.

This "reason" is based upon factors which are already scored and computed in arriving at the presumptive guidelines sentence, and thus cannot be used again as a reason to depart. <u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985).

The "reason" primarily relies upon a defendant's prior record, which is already scored. Inasmuch as it relies upon the actual timing of the offense in relation to a defendant's release from incarceration, in most instances this will also be scored in computing the recommended guidelines sentence. If a defendant has been recently released from incarceration, he will often be under legal constraint (i.e. probation) and this will be scored under the guidelines and the sentence will be increased accordingly.2

Perhaps the best argument against this "reason" for departure, however, is that it will encourage the exact arbitrariness and disparity in sentencing that the guidelines were designed to prevent. There are no parameters to guide the sentencing authority. Each trial court will have to make its determination in each individual case whether the commission of the new offenses is "close enough" in proximity to the

- 6 -

²Petitioner was scored 129 points for prior record, and an additional 6 points for being under legal constraint at the time the instant offenses were committed.

defendant's release from incarceration on prior offenses. How will it do so? How will the line be drawn? because these questions cannot be answered, "timing of the offenses" must be held an invalid reason for departure.

Because the trial court gave no valid reason for departure, this case must be remanded for resentencing within the guidelines. <u>Shull v.Duggar</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument presented here, Sidney Ollie Gibson respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the negative, and remand this case for resentencing within the guidelines.