SIDNEY OLLIE GIBSON,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 72,082

Face Trans

ρl

*c*.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A, BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY L. PRINTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO, 363014

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent accepts the preliminary statement set forth in the Petitioner's brief on the merits.

- 1 -

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Gibson was charged by information filed in the Circuit Court of Columbia County, Florida, in case number 86-177 with burglary of a dwelling and grand theft. An additional information filed in case number 86-178 charged Gibson with burglary of a dwelling and two counts of grand theft. (R. 215-218). The cases were consolidated for trial and Gibson was convicted on all counts. (R. 225-227, 229).

The recommended guidelines sentence was nine to twelve years incarceration (R. 249), but the trial court departed from the guidelines and sentenced Gibson to a total of forty years incarceration. Gibson was sentenced as follows:

> 86-177: Thirty Case No. years incarceration for the burglary of a dwelling charge and ten years incarceration for the grand theft charge to run concurrently with the sentence for burglary.

> 86-178: years Case No. Ten incarceration for burglary of а dwelling, and five years incarceration on each of the two grand thefts. These sentences to run concurrently with each but consecutive through other the sentences in case number 86-177.

(S. 26-27).

Gibson appealed the departure from the sentencing guidelines range and the First District affirmed in <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. **428** (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 10, **1988**).

- 2 -

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The legislature has determined that the commission of a felony within five years of a previous felony may be sufficient proximity to justify enhancement of the criminal penalty. The sentencing guidelines statute and rules do not provide a similar time period but appellate courts have approved the timing of the subsequent offense as a valid reason for departure.

The only apparent legislative check on the exercise of judicial discretion at sentencing would therefore appear to be the five year time period set forth in the habitual offender statute. Offenses committed within less than five years of the prior release from incarceration are subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. An appellate court reviewing a departure based on timing of the offenses should **look** to the nature of the prior offense and the nature of the subsequent offense in reviewing the guidelines departure sentence imposed. For instance, a convicted rapist who commits a second rape three years after release from incarceration for the prior rape should be treated more harshly than a rapist who commits a grand theft three years after the initial rape.

- 3 -

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

WHETHER THE COMMISSION OF NEW CRIMES WITHIN FOURTEEN MONTHS OF RELEASE FROM INCARCERATION FOR PRIOR OFFENSES IS A VALID GROUND FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES.

Gibson argues that the instant factual basis is sufficiently different from that in Williams v. State, 504 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987) to render reliance on Williams impermissible. Gibson describes Williams as a decision approving an established pattern of committing new offenses within a short period of time as a valid reason for departure and not the more general reason, the mere timing of offenses. The various district courts of appeal have not limited Williams to that situation and have approved departure sentences similar to the instant case. Hogan v. State, 12 F.L.W. 2375 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 7, 1987); Ree v. State, 512 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). However, the district courts have disapproved the use of this reason where the subsequent offense occurred twenty-two months or more after the original offense. Bruton v. State, 510 So,2d 1243 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Mcclure v. State, 513 \$0.2d 1119 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Simmons v. State, 496 So.2d 911 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The question here is whether the commission of five felonies fourteen months after release from incarceration will justify the instant departure.

Section 775.084, Fla.Stat. (1987) allows the trial court to find a defendant an habitual offender when he commits an offense within five years of his previous conviction. This Court recognizes the continued viability of \$775.084, Fla.Stat, Winters v. State, Case No. 70,164 (Fla. Feb, 25, 1988) Likewise, a three-year exposure exists for habitual misdemeanants. There been a legislative intent to treat recidivist has always offenders different than first-time offenders. Sidnev Ollie Gibson is exactly that kind of recidivist offender as evidenced by the trial court finding of habitual offender status in Gibson v. State, 510 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). In Gibson, the same defendant was sentenced by another trial court judge who made the following findings in support of habitual offender status:

> The trial court's September 3, 1986, five-paragraph order contains both its reasons for departure and its finding of habitual offender status. Paragraphs 1-3 track the language of Section 775,084, Florida Statutes, and constitute the court's finding that Appellant is a habitual offender. Parapraph 4 states the court's four reasons for departure:

a) In a relatively short period of time, from **1977** through **1982**, the defendant amassed a total of eleven (11) felony convictions.

b) The prior eleven (11) felony convictions involve different victims, different locations and most were committed on different dates. c) The defendant has shown a pattern of complete disregard for the property rights of others.

d) The defendant has failed to be rehabilitated by prior terms of probation and short periods of imprisonment.

Id\_ at 1191. The First District Court in that case found the departure sentence invalid under <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 863 (Fla, 1986).

Mr. Gibson is obviously not an offender who committed one offense, served his sentence and committed a second offense fourteen months later. The facts set forth in the opinions below demonstrate Mr. Gibson to be a multiple offender who inflicts harm upon multiple victims. These facts set Mr. Gibson apart from a defendant who just happens to commit another crime within fourteen months of his first crime. Mr. Gibson clearly qualifies for the sentence imposed under this Court's rationale set forth Williams, supra, the departure sentence should be in and affirmed. Gibson is an offender who will burglarize homes to steal property and deal in stolen property as long as he is not incarcerated.

There is a distinctive difference between a defendant who has established a criminal lifestyle which he refuses to give up even after periods of incarceration and a defendant who commits an occasional crime bearing no relationship to his criminal history. For example, a criminal defendant who commits an armed

- 6 -

robbery or a sexual battery serves his period of incarceration and then fourteen months later is arrested for possession of a felony amount of marijuana cannot be said to fall in the same category as the career burglar or repeat rapist about whom it can safely be said he will return to his life of crime within any reasonable period following his release from incarceration. The legislature has cited the reasonable period of time is five years. The court below has approved fourteen months and this cannot be said to be unreasonable.



## CONCLUSION

The District Court below did not err in approving a sentencing departure based on a repeat offense within fourteen months of a prior period of incarceration where the record clearly demonstrated an offender who is a career criminal. This Court should approve the District Court opinion below.